No. 23-CV-21

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



YOLANDA MARIA STEWART,

Received 07/10/2023 10:43 AM Resubmitted 07/10/2023 02:50 PM Filed 07/10/2023 02:50 PM

Appellant

v.

THE HOWARD UNIVERSITY, d/b/a Howard University Hospital,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, CIVIL DIVISION

(Case No. 2019-CA-008178-M; Hon. Shana Frost Matini, Judge)

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Steven M. Pavsner, Bar No. 912220 Joseph, Greenwald & Laake, PA 6404 Ivy Lane, # 400 Greenbelt, MD 20770 301.220.2200 spavsner@jgllaw.com Counsel for Appellants

I.

IV. JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1), this being an appeal from a final order (granting summary judgment and denying substitution) disposing of the entire case. *See* Appx. 9.

V. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the court below erred by denying a Motion for Substitution by which a Trustee in Bankruptcy, as the real party in interest, sought to enter and take control of a civil claim for damages that was filed by the debtor-plaintiff but which belonged to the Trustee.
- 2. Whether the court below erred in applying judicial estoppel to deprive a Trustee in Bankruptcy of the right to pursue a civil claim for damages for the benefit of a debtor-plaintiff's creditors, on the ground that the debtor-plaintiff failed to list the claim on her bankruptcy schedules before re-opening the bankruptcy proceedings, listing the claim, and obtaining appointment of a Trustee who elected to pursue the claim.

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Yolanda Maria Stewart ("Mrs. Stewart") was injured as a result of medical negligence by Appellee The Howard University, d/b/a Howard University Hospital ("Howard") in 2015. She retained the law firm of Joseph, Greenwald & Laake, P.A. ("JGL") to bring a lawsuit for those injuries ("Lawsuit"). Between the

time JGL filed the statutory Notice of Intention to Sue and the time they filed the Lawsuit, Mrs. Stewart—*pro se* and without the benefit of any attorney—filed a Petition for Bankruptcy ("Bankruptcy Petition") in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia ("Bankruptcy Court"). The Bankruptcy Petition sought to discharge approximately \$16,000 in debt.

Not understanding the potential impact of the bankruptcy filing on the Lawsuit or what constituted a "claim against a third party," Mrs. Stewart unwittingly failed to list the Lawsuit on her bankruptcy schedule of assets. She obtained a discharge of her debts in March 2020.

The Lawsuit proceeded apace until March 2022, when defense counsel informed JGL of the Petition. Mrs. Stewart thereupon retained separate Bankruptcy Counsel who filed pleadings in the Bankruptcy Court to re-open the proceeding, amend the schedule of assets to identify the Lawsuit, and appoint a Trustee to assume control of Mrs. Stewart's Estate in Bankruptcy.

Following his appointment, the Trustee elected to pursue the claim set forth in the Lawsuit for the benefit of Mrs. Stewart's creditors, and obtained authority from the Bankruptcy Court to retain JGL as Special Litigation Counsel to the Trustee. JGL thereupon filed a Motion for Substitution pursuant to SCR-Civ 17(a), seeking to substitute the Trustee for Mrs. Stewart as the real party in interest.

While Mrs. Stewart was taking the steps necessary to correct her bankruptcy schedule and have a trustee appointed to take control of the Lawsuit, Howard moved for summary judgment on grounds that, as a result of Mrs. Stewart's initial bankruptcy filing and failure to disclose the Lawsuit at that time, she lacked standing to sue and was judicially estopped from pursuing the Lawsuit.

The court below heard argument on the motions for substitution and summary judgment on December 14, 2022. By Order entered December 20, 2022, the court below denied the Motion for Substitution and granted the Motion for Summary Judgment. This appeal was timely noted on January 9, 2023.¹

VII. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mrs. Stewart was injured as the result of medical negligence in the course of gynecologic surgery at Howard University Hospital ("Howard") on July 13, 2015. Appx. 66, 68-70 (Complaint) at ¶¶ 21-23. She first learned that she had a potential claim in July 2018, when another physician at Howard, to whom she had complained that her problems continued after the 2015 surgery, disclosed that the Howard surgeon who operated on her in 2015 had not performed the procedure that he was supposed to perform. *Id.* at ¶17.

¹ The original Notice of Appeal had a misplaced apostrophe, which was corrected on January 17, 2023. *See* Appx. 255-258.

On February 19, 2019, by letter pursuant to D.C. Code §16-2802, Mrs. Stewart advised Howard of her intent to file suit relating to its employee's failure to perform the proper procedure. (Letter of Intent). Appx. 102-103. The Lawsuit was filed on December 13, 2019. Appx. 1 (Docket Entries), 66 (Complaint).

On November 27, 2019, between the dates of the Letter of Intent and the filing of the Lawsuit, Mrs. Stewart filed a Voluntary Chapter 7 Petition for Bankruptcy, on her own and without the benefit of counsel. Appx. 104 (Voluntary Petition); Appx. 203 (Affidavit of Yolanda Stewart) at ¶¶ 3-4. When she filled out and filed the "Summary of Assets and Liabilities" schedules with her Petition, Mrs. Stewart checked "No" in response to questions 33 and 34, inquiring about the existence of "Claims against third parties, whether or not you have filed a lawsuit or made a demand for payment," and "contingent and unliquidated claims." Appx. 121.

On March 1, 2020, again without the benefit of counsel, Mrs.

Stewart filed an Amended Summary of Assets and Liabilities to add a student loan to her schedule of liabilities. Appx. 148, 149. In all, Mrs.

Stewart sought discharge of \$15,900 in debts. Appx. 152. On March 17, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an Order of Discharge pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 727. Appx. 158.

In March of 2022, Howard became aware of the bankruptcy filing and provided documents from the bankruptcy docket to JGL. Appx. 165. Mrs. Stewart thereafter obtained separate Bankruptcy Counsel, who filed a motion to reopen her bankruptcy proceeding to list the Lawsuit, and to appoint a Trustee to protect the interests of Mrs. Stewart's creditors on June 21, 2022. Appx. 171. On September 22, 2022, the Bankruptcy Court granted Mrs. Stewart's motion and Marc Albert was appointed as the Trustee in the reopened bankruptcy case. Appx. 184.

Once appointed, Mr. Albert sought authority from the Bankruptcy Court to retain JGL as Special Litigation Counsel to the Estate, to pursue the Lawsuit for the benefit of Mrs. Stewart's creditors. That authority was sought on October 31, 2022 and obtained on November 15, 2022. Appx. 211, 244. Three days later, on November 18, 2022, a Motion was filed in the Lawsuit pursuant to SCR 17(a), to substitute the Trustee, the real party in interest, for Mrs. Stewart. Appx. 8, 241.

On September 27, 2022, knowing that Mrs. Stewart was in the process of reopening her bankruptcy proceeding to amend her list of assets and obtain appointment of a Trustee who could pursue the Lawsuit², Howard filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking dismissal of the Lawsuit on the grounds of Mrs.

² Mrs. Stewart's Motion to Reopen the bankruptcy proceeding appeared as Exhibit L to Howard's Opposed Motion for Summary Judgment. Appx. 171.

Stewart's lack of standing (because the Lawsuit belonged to the Trustee), and judicial estoppel (because Mrs. Stewart did not list the Lawsuit in her initial bankruptcy filing). *See* Appx. 7, 74.

Mrs. Stewart filed an Opposition on October 11, 2022 ("Opposition").

Appx. 7, 186. With respect to standing, the Opposition noted that the Trustee was in the midst of obtaining approval to enter the case and that when he did, the standing issue would be resolved. See Appx. 202 (Trustee's Letter). With respect to judicial estoppel, the Opposition included an Affidavit in which Mrs. Stewart explained that her failure to list the Lawsuit in her initial bankruptcy filing was entirely inadvertent and unintentional, and offered other grounds and authorities why judicial estoppel should not be applied to preclude the Trustee from protecting Mrs. Stewart's innocent creditors. See Appx. 203.

The two motions were heard on December 14, 2022. Appx. 8, 10-65. Counsel argued their respective legal positions, but no testimony was taken and no decision was made as to the merits of the Lawsuit. *See* Appx. 34 ("I haven't really had the opportunity to hear about the underlying merits...."). Nonetheless, in an Oral Opinion delivered from the bench, the court denied the Motion for Substitution, and granted the Motion for Summary Judgment. Appx. 57-64.

No reasons were given for denying the Motion for Substitution, Appx. 10-65, although the trial court apparently thought it would be moot if summary

judgment were granted. Appx. 64 (denying "the other motions" as "moot"). With respect to summary judgment, the court attempted to follow the elements of judicial estoppel set forth in *New Hampshire v. Maine*, 532 U.S. 749 (2001), a case which arose in an entirely different context, and held that because Mrs. Stewart knew of the malpractice claim at the time she filed her bankruptcy schedule and failed to list it, and obtained a discharge of her debts, she therefore was seeking to and did obtain an unfair advantage over her creditors, thus justifying imposition of judicial estoppel. Appx. 23, 61-64.

The Order was docketed on December 20, 2022. Appx. 8, 9. On January 9, 2023, Mrs. Stewart and Mr. Albert noted their appeal from both the denial of the Motion for Substitution and the granting of summary judgment for Howard, dismissing the Lawsuit. Appx. 255-258.

VIII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

SCR-Civ 17(a)(1) provides that "An action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." Rule 17(a)(3) prohibits the court from dismissing an action for failure to prosecute in the name of the real party in interest until a reasonable time has been allowed for the real party interest to ratify, join or be substituted in the action. The Rule further provides that, after substitution, the action proceeds as if it had been originally commenced by the real party in interest.

Despite the clear mandate of the Rule, the court below denied Appellants' motion to substitute Marc Albert, Mrs. Stewart's Trustee in Bankruptcy, for Mrs. Stewart personally. The court gave no reasons for denying the Motion for Substitution, and there were none. The court made no finding regarding the time it took the Trustee to seek to become a party to the Lawsuit, so no argument can be made that it took the Trustee more than a "reasonable time" to do so. Because it denied substitution, the court below did not have the real party in interest before it, yet rendered a decision that deprived the real party in interest of a valuable property right, to the detriment of the innocent creditors of Mrs. Stewart's Estate.

In addition to unfairly imputing Mrs. Stewart's unwitting mistake to the Trustee, the court below also treated her mistake as an intentional act intended to defraud the court. It was undisputed that Mrs. Stewart's omission of the Lawsuit from her list of assets was inadvertent and unintentional, premised on a layperson's lack of understanding of the legal definition of "unliquidated" and "third-party" claims, yet the court below held that the debtor-plaintiff's lack of understanding warranted depriving the innocent Trustee of the right to pursue the Lawsuit on behalf of Mrs. Stewart's equally innocent creditors. In so doing, the court failed to properly balance the equities, and instead fashioned an inflexible rule that the mere failure of a debtor-plaintiff to list a claim as an asset on a bankruptcy schedule, deprives the innocent Trustee—the real party in interest—of the right to pursue

the claim for the benefit of the debtor-plaintiff's equally innocent creditors, if the debtor-plaintiff has obtained a discharge of debts.

IX. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Below Erroneously Denied Appellants' Timely Motion to Substitute the Real Party in Interest, Mrs. Stewart's Trustee in Bankruptcy, for Mrs. Stewart Personally

1. Standard of Review

SCR-Civ. 17(a) mandates that the court *may not* dismiss an action for failure to prosecute in the name of the real party in interest until, after objection, a reasonable time has been allowed for the real party in interest to ratify, join, or be substituted into the action. Thus, where, as here, there is no issue of whether the defense of failure to prosecute in the name of the real party in interest was timely raised, or whether the real party in interest had a "reasonable opportunity" to "ratify, join or be substituted into the action," the issue of whether the Trustee was entitled to enter the case as the real party in interest is a question of law, reviewable de novo. See Duckett v. District of Columbia, 654 A.2d 1288, 1290-91 (1995) (dismissal for failure to prosecute in name of real party in interest held error of law, where trial court failed to recognize plaintiff's ability to substitute real party in interest under SCR-Civ. 17(a)). See also Estate of Raleigh v. Mitchell, 947 A.2d 464, 473 (D.C. 2008) (Rule 17(a)(3) prohibits dismissal of a complaint

for failure to prosecute an action in the name of the real party in interest, "until a reasonable time has been allowed for substitution of that party.")

That said, in *other* cases, where there is an issue of timeliness, or where substitution of the real party in interest is not necessary to avoid injustice, the lower court's determination of that issue is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See Martin v. Santorini Capital, LLC, 236 A.3d 386, 395, n. 8 (D.C. 2020) ("A Rule 17 defense . . . may 'not be raised at any time, for the real party [in interest] must have the opportunity to step into the 'unreal' party's shoes and should not be prejudiced by undue delay.' [citation omitted]. Thus, it would be an abuse of discretion for the trial court to allow a Rule 17(a) defense 'as late as the start of trial if the real party has been prejudiced by the defendant's laxness.") (quoting Whelan v. Abell, 953 F.2d 663, 672 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (emphasis in original); *Estate of Raleigh v.* Mitchell, 947 A.2d 464, 472-473 (D.C. 2008) (effort to substitute real party in interest, made 34 months after summary judgment on alternative theory was rejected, denied); Francis v. Recycling Solutions, 695 A.2d 63, 76 (D.C. 1997) (no abuse of discretion in dismissal where plaintiff invoked Rule 17 in effort to "preserve or generate cause[s] of action") (citation omitted).

2. The Trustee was the Real Party in Interest

There is no dispute in this case that the Trustee was the real party in interest, as the Voluntary Petition was filed before the Lawsuit. *See supra* at 3. SCR-

Civ.17(a)(1) provides that "An action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." Rule 17(a)(3) further provides:

The court *may not* dismiss an action for failure to prosecute in the name of the real party in interest until, after an objection, a reasonable time has been allowed for the real party interest to ratify, join or be substituted in the action. After ratification, joinder, or substitution, the action proceeds as if it had been originally commenced by the real party in interest. (Emphasis added)

See generally Rousseau v. Diemer, 24 F.Supp.2d 137, 143 (D. Mass. 1998) and cases there cited (when a debtor commences an action and asserts claims that belong to its bankruptcy estate, the usual remedy is to substitute the bankruptcy trustee for the debtor as the real party in interest); Hess v. Eddy, 689 F.2d 977, 981 (11th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 462 U.S. 1118 (1983), abrogated on other grounds by Jones v. Preuit & Mauldin, 876 F.2d 1480 (11th Cir. 1989) (addressing the identical Federal rule) (plain language of the Rule clearly provides that when an action is brought by someone other than the real party in interest and the real party in interest joins or ratifies the action, the amendment or ratification relates back to the time suit was originally filed). See also Wadsworth v. United States Postal Serv., 511 F.2d 64, 66 (7th Cir. 1975) (quoting 3A J. Moore, Federal Practice ¶17.15-1, at pp. 602-03 (2d ed. 1974)).

Despite the clear dictate of the Rule, the court below denied Appellants' motion to substitute Mrs. Stewart's Trustee in Bankruptcy for Mrs. Stewart personally, thereby denying the real party in interest the right to prosecute the

Lawsuit that he owned and Mrs. Stewart did not, and that he alone was entitled to pursue. In doing so, it erred. *See Duckett v. District of Columbia*, 654 A.2d 1288 (D.C. 1995) (dismissal reversed where trial court failed to allow fair opportunity to substitute real party in interest).

3. The Motion for Substitution was Timely Filed

The court gave no reason (other than presumed "mootness") for denying the Motion for Substitution, Appx. 10-65, but on the facts of this case, the only basis for denying a motion to substitute the real party in interest is that, after objection, the real party in interest does not ratify or join or is not substituted in the action within a "reasonable time." *See* SCR-Civ 17(a)(3). Here, however, Howard made no argument and the court made no finding that the motion for substitution was not brought within a "reasonable time." Appx. 10-65.

Given the process that needed to be completed in the Bankruptcy Court before substitution could occur, substitution was sought within a "reasonable time." Once Howard objected and brought it to Mrs. Stewart's attention that she was not the real party in interest, she promptly retained Bankruptcy Counsel, and Bankruptcy Counsel promptly filed the pleadings necessary to petition the Bankruptcy Court to re-open the proceeding to amend her schedule of assets and request appointment of a trustee. The Bankruptcy Court appointed Mr. Albert as Trustee on September 22, 2022. Appx. 184. The Trustee reviewed the Lawsuit

and sought permission to retain Special Litigation Counsel to pursue it on October 31, 2022. Appx. 211. The Bankruptcy Court granted that permission on November 15, 2022. Appx. 244. The Motion for Substitution was filed three days later, on November 18, 2022. Appx. 8, 241. On these facts, there is no legitimate argument that this process took more than a "reasonable time."

Moreover, Mrs. Stewart kept the court below advised of the process as it was unfolding. On October 11, 2022, Mrs. Stewart advised the court in her Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment that the Trustee had been appointed, Appx. 186-187, 202; and on November 1, 2022, Mrs. Stewart advised the court in a Supplement to her Opposition that the Trustee's Application to appoint Special Litigation Counsel to pursue the Lawsuit had been filed and was awaiting approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Appx. 8, 207.

Under the circumstances, there was no factual or legal basis to deny the Motion for Substitution.

Curiously, in its Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to its Opposed Motion for Summary Judgment, and again in its Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Substitution, Howard relied on *Simmers v National Railroad Passenger Corporation*, Case 1:20-cv-01548-JEB Doc. 18) (*Simmers*), to argue that the Lawsuit should be dismissed because Mrs. Stewart lacked standing to pursue it. *See* Appx. 223, 235, 247. In so doing, Howard overlooked the hornbook principle

set forth in the Rule itself, that after ratification, joinder or substitution, the action is not dismissed on account of the putative plaintiff's lack of standing, but rather "proceeds as if it had been originally commenced by the real party in interest." SCR Civ 17(a)(3).

Indeed, as we pointed out below, Simmers actually supported substitution, not Howard's effort to deny the Trustee the right to pursue the Lawsuit as the real party in interest. In *Simmers*, as here, a debtor-plaintiff neglected to identify an unliquidated claim as an asset in a bankruptcy filing and had been discharged. But from all that appears in the case report, Simmers's bankruptcy proceeding had not been re-opened, he had not gone back and amended his schedule of assets, a new trustee had not been appointed, the new trustee had not received permission from the bankruptcy court to pursue the claim, and the new trustee had not sought leave to appear in place of the debtor-plaintiff to pursue the claim. As none of that had yet happened, the court held that, "at least as of now, only the Trustee has standing to pursue Simmers's FELA cause of action." Appx. 235 (emphasis added). The court therefore dismissed the case "without prejudice, which means that the trustee may renew the suit, or Simmers may refile in the event the trustee subsequently abandons the claim." Appx. 239 (emphasis added).

Thus, even in the significantly different procedural posture of *Simmers*, the court explicitly noted that once the steps we took here were taken there, Mr.

Simmers's Trustee could pursue the claim, or Mr. Simmers could pursue it himself if the trustee elected to abandon it— *notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Simmers* had initially failed to disclose the case to the bankruptcy court and obtained discharge.

In stark contrast to *Simmers*, in our case the Trustee was figuratively knocking on the courthouse door, asking for permission to enter and pursue the Lawsuit, when the court below inexplicably denied him permission to do so and then dismissed the Lawsuit so that he could not pursue it for the benefit of Mrs. Stewart's innocent creditors.

B. The Court Below Erroneously Granted Howard's Motion for Summary Judgment, Depriving the Trustee of the Right to Pursue the Claim for The Benefit of Mrs. Stewart's Creditors

1. Standard of Review

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