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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As the judge below – sitting as a chancellor in equity – correctly found, Plaintiff Stewart's original rights to file this action became subject to judicial estoppel when – as a party both to this action and to a bankruptcy action initiated just weeks before filing this personal injury action for damages – she inexplicably:

(a) failed to disclose the existence of her planned damages claim when she filled out the required schedules supporting her Petition in Bankruptcy; (b) failed to amend her bankruptcy filings to disclose this action after she filed it; (c) failed to disclose the filing and pendency of this action when she later filed amended bankruptcy schedules to name additional creditors; and (d) failed just weeks later in not correcting this disclosure deficiency when the bankruptcy court, in preparing to discharge her debts for lack of any accessible disclosed assets, called upon her to reaffirm under oath the accuracy of her disclosures.

Plaintiff Stewart's inactions back in late 2019 and early 2020 – which did not come to light until Defendant Howard's counsel discovered them and alerted Plaintiff's own tort-claim counsel to the situation in March 2022 – resulted in each of the following: (a) almost three years of intensive and expensive litigation herein without the presence of the actual real party in interest; (b) the trial court's distraction from numerous other, legitimately filed matters before it; (c) the time-

consuming distractions arising from the belated discovery that Plaintiff Stewart potentially was not a real party in interest; and (d) the time and expense of investigating and pursuing the summary judgment below for judicial estoppel.

Moreover, Plaintiff's inactions back in 2019 and 2020 misled the bankruptcy court into granting a total discharge of Plaintiff Stewart's debts - reportedly involving almost 50 creditors – without any payment to them, because she failed to disclose that she had a potentially lucrative personal injury claim against Defendant Howard, which – among other things – was denied the opportunity to negotiate with a trustee during the original bankruptcy proceeding about settling her claim before litigation commenced. Once Plaintiff Stewart's bankruptcy-disclosure failures became known to her counsel herein in March 2022, she then: (i) petitioned for reopening the original bankruptcy proceedings; (ii) obtained the appointment of a trustee to the marshal, liquidate and distribute her belatedly disclosed assets, and (iii) supported the trustee's proposal to intervene belatedly in the instant damages action. All this eventually would result in renewed notice to creditors who had effectively wasted their time participating in the original bankruptcy action and now would have to participate again to seek to share in any damages owed by Defendant Howard herein or in a related settlement. To allow such a plaintiff the ability to do so only would only encourage debtors to conceal potential assets and only disclose them if caught, and, as noted in *Moses* (606 F.3d at 800), granting such relief would undermine the incentive for such debtors to provide truthful initial disclosures.

In ruling against Plaintiff Stewart, Judge Matini correctly recognized that, in addition to meeting all the requirements for equitable estoppel under federal precedents such as *New Hampshire* and *Moses*, the key facts of this action regarding Plaintiff Stewart's disclosure failures are such that a finding of equitable estoppel against her follows *a fortiori* from the rulings of the trial court and this Court's affirmance in *Dennis*. In particular, as Judge Matini recognized, the compact sequence of events relating to Plaintiff Stewart's original non-disclosures weighs even more heavily towards a finding of judicial estoppel here than did the facts in *Dennis*. Among other things, Plaintiff Stewart reaffirmed her misrepresentations in the bankruptcy court at least twice before receiving the March 2020 Order of Discharge. Furthermore, there is <u>nothing</u> in the record below that could justify <u>not finding</u> equitable estoppel here, given the holdings and rationale in *Dennis*.

Appellants' Brief questions Judge Matini's conclusion that granting summary judgment for Defendant Howard permitted a finding that Plaintiff's Motion For Substitution substituting trustee Marc Albert as Plaintiff was moot, but Appellants did not seek reconsideration below, and accordingly the record is poorly developed in that regard. Defendant Howard acknowledges that significant cases (including *Dennis*) recognize that proper adjudication of equitable estoppel issues arising from misrepresentations in a bankruptcy proceeding requires special consideration,

although there can be situations where the continuation of litigation in the name of the bankruptcy trustee would not be appropriate, and perhaps the bankruptcy court's vacating the debtor's ill-gotten bankruptcy discharge and restoring the creditors' legal rights against the debtor would be the best available remedy.

Instead, if this Court concludes that the trustee properly could have been substituted as the real party in interest below notwithstanding the argument that it would encourage bankruptcy litigants to conceal assets, Defendant Howard recognizes that equity would require that it cooperate with the trustee in this regard, as suggested by the Amicus Brief of the National Association of Bankruptcy Trustees, assuming that Plaintiff Stewart has become judicially estopped from proceeding any further in seeking damages for herself. Upon any remand here, however, the court below should coordinate further proceedings herein with those likely to take place in the bankruptcy court. For example, because Plaintiff's disclosed debts discharged in the original bankruptcy proceeding were only approximately \$15,900, further proceedings below could be stayed to allow the trustee to notify the original creditors that the bankruptcy has been reopened, in order to work out a settlement for their benefit with Defendant Howard here. Indeed, it would be inequitable for the parties herein to prepare for and try this case at great further expense, when the stakes at issue for creditors are comparatively low.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Appellants' Brief is primarily focused on (A) whether the recently reappointed trustee for Ms. Stewart's belatedly reopened 2020 bankruptcy estate should be allowed to appear at this stage of her damages action against Defendant Howard as the real party in interest, and (B) whether the summary judgment below against Plaintiff Stewart on grounds of judicial estoppel should not have rendered moot the Plaintiff's Motion to Substitute. Along the way, Appellants' Brief also interjects arguments for reversing the judicial estoppel finding below, but even the Conclusion in Appellants' Brief (at 34) only asks expressly that "the judgment below should be vacated," and the case therefore remanded to "allow the Lawsuit to proceed on the merits in the name of [trustee Albert]."

Indeed, it is only in section B.2.a of Argument that Appellants' Brief offers excuses for Plaintiff Stewart's repeated misrepresentations under oath to the bankruptcy court as "an unintentional, inadvertent mistake" (*id.* at 17-20) and contends that "there is no evidence that Ms. Stewart intended to conceal the Lawsuit from the Bankruptcy Court." *Id.* at 20-28. In addition, Appellants' Brief (at 28-29) treats this Court's recent analysis and holding in *Dennis* dismissively, and even argues that *Dennis* is "consistent" with potentially more lenient judicial estoppel decisions elsewhere in the country in other contexts – conduits through which this Court supposedly could justify reversing Judge Matini's finding of judicial estoppel.

However, no D.C. precedent supports such a devious procedure.

In any event, much as Appellants might wish it otherwise, the actual key topic here — Plaintiff Stewart's bankruptcy case deception and all the mischief it has caused — was properly resolved against her by the court below, and the finding of equitable estoppel against Plaintiff Stewart should be affirmed on the merits, before any further proceedings for the limited purpose of compensating her creditors who were mistakenly deprived of relief by the March 2020 Order of Discharge.

With these priorities in mind, the Argument below will proceed in the same order as Defendant Howard's Counter-Statement of Issues Presented for Review.

I. The Court Below Properly Found That Plaintiff Stewart Personally Is Equitably Estopped from Pursuing Any Further Interest in Or Receiving Any Benefit from Her Suit against Defendant Howard Herein.

A. Standards of Review

Contrary to Appellants' contention (*id.* at 15-16), the standards of review for trial and appellate courts considering summary judgment sought based on the affirmative defense of equitable estoppel <u>are not</u> those for ordinary questions of law or mixed questions of law and fact. Instead, as Judge Long wrote in the *Dennis* opinion (258 A.3d at 868 (citations omitted)):

We recognize the bedrock principle that "[j]udicial estoppel is an 'equitable doctrine' invoked at the court's discretion to prevent 'improper use of judicial machinery'."... We review the use of judicial estoppel according to the abuse of discretion standard, and we will affirm where the trial court has satisfied all the requirements for invoking the doctrine....

Under this standard, the trial court – sitting as chancellor in equity – is not limited to considering undisputed material facts. Instead, the trial court in such situations hears the uncontested and contested facts that are presented to it – with an evidentiary hearing if any party asks for one (no one did below here) – and the court then makes findings of facts and draws related conclusions of law.⁴ Therefore, contrary to Appellants' position (*id.* at 16-17), the recognition that each equitable-estoppel case "must be decided on its own specific facts and circumstances" (*see* Appellants' Br., at 16-17 (quoting the Fourth Circuit's *King* case⁵)) does not mean that such rulings must be made on <u>undisputed</u> facts. Accordingly, judicial estoppel findings are reviewed by the Court of Appeals under an abuse-of-discretion standard, which applies to both findings of fact and applying equitable principles to the facts.⁶

⁴ Appellants' Brief (at 15-16) concedes the correct standard only obliquely, in citing *In re Coastal Plains*, 179 F.3d 197, 205 (5th Cir. 1999), with a parenthetical on point, apparently as part of an overall plan to ignore controlling precedent in the *Dennis* opinion and instead to "weave and cut whole cloth" from myriad opinions elsewhere typically not involving the "unique context of a debtor's nondisclosure of a claim in bankruptcy." *See Winmark Ltd. P'shp v. Miles & Stockbridge*, 109 Md. App. 149, 170-72 (1996), vacated and remanded on other grounds, 345 Md. 614 (1997).

⁵ King v. Herbert J. Thomas Memorial Hospital, 159 F.3d 192, 196 (4th Cir. 1998).

⁶ Appellants' Brief (at 17) asserts that courts may not resolve any summary judgment by making findings based on disputed facts, even if the central issue involves an "equitable" claim or defense, or any other dispute that is "within the sole province of the court to decide." *Cf.* Md. Civil Rule 2-502. However, Appellants have not cited any case construing Rule 56 to limit resolution of jurisdictional, equitable, or other questions that are "within the sole province of the court to decide." (*See id*).

B. Disputed Issues of Material Fact Would Not Have Precluded a Summary Judgment Finding of Equitable Estoppel.

By relying on the wrong legal standard in this regard, Appellants have effectively ceded the high ground on appeal to Defendant Howard, which correctly relies on the *Dennis* opinion's accurate summary of the proper role of the trial judge as chancellor in equity in making findings of fact and conclusions of law on an issue of judicial estoppel. (*See* Argument I.A, *supra*.)

1. Judicial Estoppel Is an Equitable Defense, to Be Resolved by the Trial Judge after Making Appropriate Findings of Fact, without Any Right to a Jury Trial on Disputed Fact Issues.

This Court has traditionally used the "abuse of discretion" standard of review for issues of judicial estoppel, and the *Dennis* opinion expressly confirms that "abuse of discretion is the correct standard." *See id.*, 258 A.3d at 873-74. As the *Dennis* opinion noted, review of a trial court's use of equitable remedies is governed by the "abuse of discretion" standard. *See id.* at 874, citing *Alternative Systems Concepts*, *Inc.*, *y. Synopsys, Inc.*, 374 F.3d 23, 30-31 (1st Cir. 2004).

For the same reasons, this *Dennis* opinion held that "there is no role for a jury in the determination of whether to apply judicial estoppel." *Id.* at 874-77. Instead, as the *Dennis* opinion explained: "This court has firmly established that where the issue at hand and the remedy sought are equitable in nature, there is no constitutional right to a jury trial on the issue." *Id.* at 874. As that opinion further explained, each precedent cited by the appellant there that reversed a trial court finding of judicial

estoppel used the "abuse of discretion" standard, and no such case remanded for a jury trial on the judicial estoppel issue. *See id.* at 874-87.

2. The Court Below Correctly Considered the Three Basic Elements of Judicial Estoppel, Including Caveats about Their Completeness and Proper Use, and Properly Applied Them to the Specific Facts Here.

Appellants' Brief (at 17-20) acknowledges that there is a basic three-part test for evaluating an asserted defense of equitable estoppel, as articulated by the Supreme Court in New Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 749-51 (2001), and later applied here, first by the D.C. Circuit in the *Moses* case, and more recently by this Court in the *Dennis* case. These factors are: (i) the current position of the party charged with judicial estoppel must be "clearly inconsistent" with its position in an earlier proceeding; (ii) the party so charged must have succeeded in persuading the second court to accept its request for substantive relief, as a result of which that party's reliance on a "clearly inconsistent" position in the second proceeding "would create 'the perception that either the first or the second court was misled';" and (iii) the party "seeking to assert an inconsistent position" in the second proceeding "would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped." See New Hampshire, 532 U.S. at 750-51.

Appellants' Brief (at 17-31) <u>does not</u> dispute that the three *New Hampshire* factors are required for purposes of establishing a judicial estoppel defense. Instead, relying on the statement in *New Hampshire* that it was not "establish[ing] inflexible

prerequisites or an exhaustive formula for determining the applicability of judicial estoppel" and that "[a]dditional considerations may inform the doctrine's application in specific factual contexts," Appellants err in contending that every judicial-estoppel case is potentially unique –that "one-size [sic] does not fit all" – in an effort to distinguish the *Dennis* case and other adverse local precedents. *See id.* at 19-20.

Appellants are also incorrect in contending that there is insufficient evidence here for a court to properly find improper intent. Appellants' Brief (see id. at 20) frames this issue using two questions: (a) "whether mere failure to list a contingent claim on a bankruptcy schedule is a sufficient basis for [finding] judicial estoppel," and (b) "whether a finding of a motive or intent to conceal is required." In contrast, Defendant Howard's position is: (a) that a mere failure of disclosure in the bankruptcy context may be a sufficient basis for finding judicial estoppel; (b) that there is more conduct and contextual evidence here than Appellants are willing to admit; and (c) that such situations call for a rebuttable presumption of improper motive or intent, so that the plaintiff-debtor has the burden of coming forward with probative rebuttal evidence, because that party is most likely to have such evidence if indeed it exists. See Fireman's Fund Ins. Cos. v. Ex-Cell-O Corp., 702 F. Supp. 1317, 1329 (E.D. Mich. 1988) (holding that insured had the burden of producing evidence and the burden of proof to establish that the injurious incident qualified under the "sudden and accidental" exception to the standard liability insurance

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